
If you are reading this electronically, the Council has saved £xx.xx on printing.  For more 
information on the Mod.gov paperless app, contact Democratic Services

Merton Council
Children and Young People 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel 
Date: 4 November 2020
Time: 7.15 pm
Venue: This will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not take place in a physical 

location, in accordance with s78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020.
AGENDA

Page Number

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of pecuniary interest 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 4

4 Impact of COVID-19 - Verbal update from the Director of 
Children, Schools and Families. 

5 Department Update Report 5 - 16

6 Performance Monitoring Report 17 - 24

7 Work Programme 2020-21 25 - 32

This is a public meeting – members of the public are very welcome to view the 
meeting via our YouTube Channel.

For more information about the work of this and other overview and scrutiny panels, 
please telephone 020 8545 4035 or e-mail scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, 
visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

Press enquiries: communications@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3483 or 
4093

Email alerts: Get notified when agendas are published 
www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny
mailto:communications@merton.gov.uk
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer


Public Information
Electronic agendas, reports and minutes
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be found on our 
website.  To access this, click https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-democracy and 
search for the relevant committee and meeting date.
Agendas can also be viewed online in the Borough’s libraries and on the Mod.gov paperless 
app for iPads, Android and Windows devices.

https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-democracy


Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel membership

Councillors: 
Brenda Fraser (Chair)
Hayley Ormrod (Vice-Chair)
Agatha Mary Akyigyina OBE
Omar Bush
Edward Foley
Joan Henry
James Holmes
Russell Makin
Marsie Skeete
Dave Ward

Substitute Members: 
Dickie Wilkinson
Thomas Barlow
Billy Christie
Andrew Howard
Carl Quilliam

Co-opted Representatives 
Uzma Ahmad
Mansoor Ahmad, Parent Governor 
Representative Secondary and Special 
Sectors
Colin Powell, Church of England diocese

Note on declarations of interest
Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at the 
meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of 
the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  For further advice please 
speak with the Managing Director, South London Legal Partnership.

What is Overview and Scrutiny?
Overview and Scrutiny describes the way Merton’s scrutiny councillors hold the Council’s 
Executive (the Cabinet) to account to make sure that they take the right decisions for the Borough. 
Scrutiny panels also carry out reviews of Council services or issues to identify ways the Council 
can improve or develop new policy to meet the needs of local people.  From May 2008, the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission and Panels have been restructured and the Panels renamed to 
reflect the Local Area Agreement strategic themes.

Scrutiny’s work falls into four broad areas:

 Call-in: If three (non-executive) councillors feel that a decision made by the Cabinet is 
inappropriate they can ‘call the decision in’ after it has been made to prevent the decision 
taking immediate effect. They can then interview the Cabinet Member or Council Officers and 
make recommendations to the decision-maker suggesting improvements.

 Policy Reviews: The panels carry out detailed, evidence-based assessments of Council 
services or issues that affect the lives of local people. At the end of the review the panels issue 
a report setting out their findings and recommendations for improvement and present it to 
Cabinet and other partner agencies. During the reviews, panels will gather information, 
evidence and opinions from Council officers, external bodies and organisations and members 
of the public to help them understand the key issues relating to the review topic.

 One-Off Reviews: Panels often want to have a quick, one-off review of a topic and will ask 
Council officers to come and speak to them about a particular service or issue before making 
recommendations to the Cabinet. 

 Scrutiny of Council Documents: Panels also examine key Council documents, such as the 
budget, the Business Plan and the Best Value Performance Plan.

Scrutiny panels need the help of local people, partners and community groups to make sure that 
Merton delivers effective services. If you think there is something that scrutiny should look at, or 
have views on current reviews being carried out by scrutiny, let us know. 

For more information, please contact the Scrutiny Team on 020 8545 4035 or by e-mail on 
scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny


This page is intentionally left blank



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

1

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL
30 SEPTEMBER 2020
(7.15 pm - 8.50 pm)
PRESENT: Councillors Councillor Brenda Fraser (in the Chair), 

Councillor Hayley Ormrod, Councillor Agatha Mary Akyigyina, 
Councillor Omar Bush, Councillor Edward Foley, 
Councillor Joan Henry, Councillor James Holmes, 
Councillor Russell Makin, Councillor Marsie Skeete and 
Councillor Dave Ward

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Eleanor Stringer, Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services and Education

Rachael Wardell, (Director of Children Schools and Families), 
Tom Procter (Head of Contracts & School Organisation) and 
Rachael Wardell (Director, Children, Schools & Families 
Department) Stella Akintan (Scrutiny Officer).

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1)

Apologies for absence were received from co-opted member Colin Powell

2 DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations of pecuniary interests

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Agenda Item 3)

Councillor Billy Christie was present at the meeting but not recorded in the minutes. 
The remainder of the minute was agreed as a true and accurate record.

4 IMPACT OF COVID-19  - VERBAL UPDATE (Agenda Item 4)

The Director of Children, Schools and Families reported that COVID-19 had a 
significant impact locally from the beginning of March. Merton had one of the first 
schools in country to close. From that point they have working to support schools to 
stay open. During the lockdown all schools closed except for key workers and 
vulnerable children. Day care provision also remained open for key workers and 
vulnerable children. Schools re-opened gradually over the summer term and opened 
fully in September albeit with a staggered start. There have been some 
understandable concerns from communities and from school staff but all schools are 
now open. 

In response to questions the Director of Children, Schools and Families reported that:

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


2

There has been excellent support from health and the police and leadership from 
schools with good workforce capacity amongst council staff. Everyone has adapted 
to this challenging environment. 

Preparations began at the end of summer in the event there is another lockdown. 
The Government aim to keep schools open as a priority. Education materials will be 
provided in a lockdown situation and schools will be able to mobilise their lockdown 
offer should it be necessary. It will be the same response as last time but now with 
improved understanding and capacity because of all we have learnt in the first half of 
the year. 

There are no financial resources available from the council for schools who have 
been impacted by COVID. The Government have offered some help. Fewer schools 
are forecasting a deficit this year. 

Students who have developed a knowledge gap due to the lock down are receiving 
support and remedial action within their school.  Government funding is available to 
schools to help them meet individual pupils’ needs. Schools are aware of widening 
gaps across education, health and income. Resources have been made available to 
address wellbeing needs. 

A Panel Member asked about the data gathered on children who had a knowledge 
gap during lock down. It was suggested that this Panel should monitor their progress 
over the next 12 months. The Director of Children, Schools and Families confirmed 
that schools held individual pupil data and there were no plans to gather or monitor it 
centrally. The Director confirmed that pupil progress is otherwise monitored through 
SATS, GCSE’s and A levels. There is no evidence that repeatedly testing children is 
beneficial.  Schools are supporting the young people they know based on their 
current and expected levels. 

The Cabinet Member for Children's Services and Education expressed concern that 
inequalities have been exacerbated because of COVID-19. Schools are already 
concerned, as is the council. 

A panel member said it is important to ensure both parents and children’s mental 
health is supported, they urged the Director and Cabinet Member to pay attention to 
this issue.

A Panel member said a young person in Pollards Hill has asked for clarification about 
the potential changes to GSCE’s and A levels next year. The Director of Children, 
Schools and Families confirmed that we do not know at this stage but extensive 
changes are not expected.

A panel member raised concerns about the registration of new-borns and 
inoculations cancelled during lockdown. The Director of Children, Schools and 
Families said that registrars have resumed birth registrations have cleared the 
backlog and have not missed any babies. Parents were concerned about taking 
children for vaccinations or were delayed. During the Pandemic there has been 

Page 2



3

strengthened partnerships, stronger communities and Merton is performing well on 
many measures.

RESOLVED 
The Chair thanked Panel Members for their report and highlighted that the Pandemic 
has led to more neighbourliness as well as highlighted existing inequalities.

5 HARRIS ACADEMY WIMBLEDON (Agenda Item 5)

A Panel member noted that the school is over-subscribed and queried  where 
additional pupils are coming from.  The Head of Contracts & School Organisation 
said the majority of the pupils at the school reside relatively closely to the permanent 
school site around South Wimbledon, Collier’s Wood and areas to the south of the 
school.

Panel members asked about the children accommodated temporarily in the sixth 
form building at Harris Morden. The Head of Contracts & School Organisation said it 
is an underused building  and while the temporary arrangements were not ideal, the 
Headteacher said pupils have settled in well.

6 DEPARTMENT UPDATE REPORT (Agenda Item 6)

The Director of Children, Schools and Families gave an overview of the Department 
Update. In response to questions it was reported that:

In regards to the increase in demand in domestic violence services during the 
lockdown there was initially a reduction in the number of referrals, reduction in 
contact from members of public. Numbers have now increased significantly. Now 
seeing an increase in referrals and increase in severity. 

The Department has taken a pro-active response in relation to the Black Lives Matter 
Protests.  There has been a re-examination of anti-racist practices, educational 
resources within teams and with managers to talk to staff and discuss practice 
Corporately we have re-invigorated the  BAME staff forum. Looking at monitoring 
policies and procedures.

Cricket Green School planned a grand opening but had to cancel due to lockdown. 
They provided great support to vulnerable pupils during the lockdown period. It has 
been a success story and a tremendous support to children and parents.

A Panel Member thanked the Director for the innovative things that are happening 
across the department and queried if there is an opportunity for more volunteers and 
more fund raising capacity and grants from big foundations and companies as well as 
the government. The Director of Children, Schools and Families said volunteers are 
used in early help, such as Home Start a befriending service for children under 5 for 
families who may be struggling. The department want to do more work with voluntary 
sector to apply for funding.

Page 3



4

RESOLVED
The Director was asked to provide details of support for anti-racist education in 
Merton Schools for the next meeting.

7 DEPARTMENT UPDATE REPORT - APPENDIX ONE (Agenda Item 6a)

8 WORK PROGRAMME (Agenda Item 7)

The work programme was noted.

Page 4



Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel
Date: 04 November 2020
Wards: All 

Subject:  Departmental Update
Lead officer: Rachael Wardell, Director of Children, Schools and Families
Lead member: Councillor Eleanor Stringer, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
and Education.
Contact officer: Karl Mittelstadt, Head of Performance, Policy and Partnerships

Recommendations: 
A. Members of the panel to discuss and comment on the contents of the report

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. The report provides members of the panel with information on key 

developments affecting the Children, Schools and Families Department, 
since the panel’s last meeting and not covered elsewhere on the agenda. 
It focusses on those aspects of particular relevance to the department and 
those where the panel expressed an interest in receiving regular updates.

1.2. For this municipal year, the format of the report includes a paragraph 
about key issues in every service area within the directorate. This is to 
raise awareness and understanding of the full range of work in the 
directorate by ensuring even coverage across the services. Items 
specifically requested by scrutiny members will be covered under the 
service area to which they relate and are highlighted in the text as 
(Scrutiny Request).

1.3. This report will also provide members of the scrutiny panel an update on 
the Directorate’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  

2 DETAILS
CHILDREN, SCHOOLS & FAMILIES

2.1. It is only a short time since the last CYP Scrutiny on 30 September and 
therefore this Departmental Update has been kept fairly brief to focus only 
on changes between then and now. 

2.2. The previous report noted that “Ofsted is likely to be undertaking a social 
care inspection in Merton in the coming month”. In fact, by the time of the 
last scrutiny meeting an ‘assurance visit’ had already been announced. 
The visit officially ran from 6 to 8 October, but as the Annex A information 
was submitted as required on Friday 25 and Monday 28 September, 
inspection activity effectively lasted for two full weeks. These ‘assurance 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



visits’ have been developed by Ofsted as a way to evaluate a local 
authority’s practice under Covid arrangements, with a focus on children’s 
social care as well as support for schools and school attendance. Under 
these arrangements the outcome of the visit is a narrative outcome letter, 
rather than a headline judgement with accompanying report. 

2.3. Until the outcome letter is published, the overall inspection findings remain 
confidential, but they were communicated privately to the Chief Executive, 
Cabinet Member and Directorate Management Team on the afternoon of 8 
October and were very positive. In particular, the feedback noted that 
senior managers had already identified the areas of practice that needed 
further work and that we have plans in place to do this. 

2.4. The draft outcome letter from the assurance visit was received by the 
Director of Children, Schools and Families for factual accuracy checks on 
Friday 23 October and the final outcome letter will be published on 20 
November. 

2.5. This Departmental Update report is the last I will submit during my tenure 
as Merton’s Director of Children, Schools and Families. I will be leaving 
Merton in early December to take up the DCS role in another local 
authority. I would like to take this opportunity to thank the terrific team in 
Children, Schools and Families that I have had the privilege to lead, in 
particular the Senior Leadership Team and my two Assistant Directors, 
Jane McSherry and El Mayhew. I would also like to thank the Cabinet 
Members I have had the pleasure to serve: Formerly Councillor Cooper-
Marbiah and Councillor Braund, and more recently Councillor Stringer, for 
their helpful balance of support and challenge. Finally, I extend my thanks 
to the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel, and all its members 
over the years of my tenure. I have experienced diligent and thorough 
scrutiny from this panel, always undertaken in a spirit of appreciation and 
support.

Children’s Social Care and Youth Inclusion Division
MASH & First Response 

2.6. In the last report, MASH had been able to maintain the service target of 
completing 91% of assessments on time. We are now reporting a 
decrease in our performance with regards to our assessment timeliness 
(now reported at 90% and below target). This is a result of changes to the 
way in which this indicator is reported. Previously, we would only count 
assessments open to MASH/First Response. We are now including 
assessments that are open to other services. This has enabled us to put in 
place tighter scrutiny, and we are expecting this figure to increase in the 
next reporting period. 
Safeguarding and Care Planning  

2.7. In September 2020, Children’s Services received notice of an ‘assurance 
visit’ from Ofsted planned for the 6th, 7th and 8th October. The 
Safeguarding and Care Planning Service and Children with Disabilities 
Team experienced a high level of scrutiny during this process and 
received positive feedback. The service was focussed on preparing for the 

Page 6



visit and making sure Ofsted were provided with all of the information they 
needed prior to arriving. The inspectors spoke to 12 staff members from 
Safeguarding and Care Planning and Children with Disabilities over the 3 
days. 

2.8. Two Newly Qualified social workers on the ASYE programme arrived into 
the service in October, two Agency social workers opted to go permanent 
and we have one external social worker who will be joining Merton 
permanently in November. Despite the challenges of remote working 
during COVID, the recruitment of new staff has been relatively successful. 
We currently have three teams running with vacant posts, 4 vacancies in 
total and this is putting pressure on the existing staff group in terms of 
caseload volume. There have been challenges over the last month to find 
suitable agency cover for these vacant positions.

2.9. Throughout the COVID period, we have seen an increase in numbers of 
families in need of help and protection. Numbers of Children in Need and 
Numbers of Child Protection Cases have risen in recent months since 
March 2020 as have numbers of children in Care Proceedings. This 
increase has led to an increase in caseloads in the safeguarding service. 
In September the numbers of children in need and child protection cases 
stopped increasing and we are hopeful that the upward trend will stabilise.

2.10. The Social Workers in Schools Team is now fully staffed and SWs are 
assigned to the following secondary schools:

 Rutlish, Melrose, Ursuline, Harris Wimbledon, Harris Morden 
and Harris Merton.

Permanency, Looked After Children and Access to Resources Team 
2.11. This improved stability in this team reported at the last meeting continue to 

be reflected in performance, with children being frequently visited. Since 
May we have consistently been over 90% of visits in time, up from an 
average of 83% over the previous 8-months. All children who have not yet 
achieved their permanence plan are now receiving regular permanency 
planning meetings. 

2.12. During Ofsted’s recent visit, they provided verbal feedback on the 
improvements around permanency planning. They recommended that we 
focus on our life story work practice, an area which we had already 
identified as needing strengthening. 

2.13. During the second quarter, there were 5 new, foster households approved, 
1 of which was a connected carer. There was also one supported lodgings 
approved. 

2.14. The first virtual Corporate Parenting Board was held in September 
following the cancellation of an earlier board due to Covid-19. The virtual 
meeting took place successfully and we were able to engage young 
people in the discussion. A further meeting is scheduled for November. 

Page 7



Quality Assurance & Practice Development
2.15. Covid 19: since March 2020, QAPD continues to support and provide 

advice and guidance for practitioners. As per the agreed operating model, 
the majority of IRO visits and virtual conferences/meetings continue to 
take place virtually. A small number are held face to face where required 
and based on risk. IROs continue to meet with young people and where 
possible, hold reviews face to face outside of the office where the young 
person is fully engaged in the process and their voice leads the plans we 
have. 

2.16. Ofsted October 2020 visit: Ofsted reviewed aspects of the QAPD team. 
Initial feedback suggests that there was confidence in the quality 
assurance systems we have in place, including moderation and increased 
presence of the IRO within the child’s journey. The permanence lead 
confirmed the achievements in progressing plans, also the areas we want 
to strengthen further for permanency for our children. 

2.17. We continue to focus on areas to develop including strengthening 
advocacy, how we share outcomes of reviews with children via letter in 
place of minutes, and the use of formal letters of introduction for the young 
person when IROs are allocated. Plans to address these issues are 
already in place. In addition, permanency planning alongside life story 
work was discussed and we identified strategies to strengthen these areas 
in collaboration with other service areas and social workers. 

2.18. Audit programme: We continue to undertake monthly collaborative audits 
and these form part of the monthly reports to the Learning and 
Improvement Board, and inform staff learning. We have made significant 
progress in identifying the strengths of practice and the areas we want to 
strengthen. The monthly audit programme continues for all managers with 
a strong focus on a collaborative and strengths-based approach. The use 
of monthly moderation and dip sample of audits by Heads of Service 
continues as this informs training delivery on focused areas. We have 
submitted an audit plan to the Improvement Board for 2020-21 to complete 
several thematic and deep dive audits.

2.19. Practice weeks: The planned practice week in October was rescheduled 
for November because of the Ofsted assurance visit. Practice weeks 
enable us to identify strong practice and allows leaders from across 
education and social care to observe practice across the directorate and 
strengthen the development of strategy, policy and practice.

2.20. September 2020 performance data: Initial Child Protection Conference 
(ICPC) timeliness remains a strength in Merton with 100% achievement. 
The number of children subject to child protection plans (CPP) has 
increased due to increased requests for ICPC regarding very young 
children, pre-birth and large families. We are also progressing those 
children where a transfer to another Local Authority needs to take place 
following the update within Covid 19 operating model guidance last month. 
At the end of September, 133 children remain subject to CPP.  

2.21. Children and young people looked after has slightly increased this month 
alongside unaccompanied asylum seeking children. All reviews held in 

Page 8



September were within timescales. We continue to review those young 
people subject to section 20 accommodation and strengthen permanency 
and transition planning. However, one challenge over the last 6 months 
was the availability of courts to hear and list final matters for final orders 
made. This was escalated via our legal teams to Cafcass and the judiciary.

2.22. Training and development, we have implemented a virtual training 
programme, mapped into a career pathway. We now use the corporate 
training platform. This enables us to better capture attendance data and 
post-course evaluations and obtain feedback on impact to practice 3 
months after training attended. 

2.23. We have commissioned a comprehensive Signs of Safety training 
programme and sponsored a high number of staff members to attend the 
accredited foundation year of systemic practice. 

2.24. As a service, we are currently under strength in terms of being able to 
support and resource development across children’s social care more fully 
as we would want. We are seeking to recruit permanent staff members to 
support and strengthen practice across services. 

2.25. A permanent Signs of Safety practice lead commenced in post in 
September 2020. We continue to use an interim auditor and a QA 
Permanence Lead manager, but it has been a challenge to identify and 
recruit the right person on a permanent basis. When the Fostering 
Independent Reviewing officer left the organisation last month, we 
identified an experienced and qualified interim professional to take on the 
role.  Subject to the proposed re-organisation consultation taking place, we 
plan to recruit to vacant posts with permanent staff.  

Adolescent and Family Service
2.26. Youth Justice Team has submitted the Youth Justice Board required 

Recovery Plan, which outlines the learning from 'lockdown' and the 
anticipated levels of delivery against each Covid level. This was sent 
before the Government’s announcement in October of the Tiers but 
remains broadly in line. Staff continue to deliver virtual visits but have 
started to hold sessions within the Annex when virtual engagement is 
difficult. 

2.27. Tackling Exploitation Team have had two staff start at the end of 
September and they have been completing their induction and specialist 
training to support delivery of Contextual Safeguarding. 

2.28. Knife Crime update (scrutiny request) - the Safer Merton Violence 
Reduction Plan includes actions for Children's Social Care aligned against 
contextual safeguarding delivery. Children's Social Care and Youth 
Inclusion CSMT have signed off the Contextual Harm Protocol with 
accompanying practice guidance and tools to enhance the identification, 
assessment and planning against contextual harm, including victims of 
knife crime. 

2.29. The 14+ Service has started to deliver visits to care leavers in line with the 
new operating model developed by CSMT. The visits to care leavers had 

Page 9



primarily been delivered virtually. If further restrictions or 'lockdown' take 
place, then visits would return to virtual unless for highly vulnerable young 
people. This will ensure that young people who have been asking for visits 
can receive these while we have the capacity and scope to deliver these. 

Education Division
School Improvement

2.30. The Virtual School’s support for Merton’s children in care, and care 
experienced young people, has focused on their return to education in 
September.  Officers have a good understanding of their needs, drawing 
on knowledge of what was happening for them prior to lockdown, during 
lockdown, and how the September return has gone for them.  The overall 
attendance for statutory age pupils in the Virtual School currently stands at 
95.5%, which is above the current national averages for all pupils in both 
the primary (92%) and secondary phase (87%).  Officers in the Virtual 
School were also integrally involved with Ofsted assurance visit in early 
October, and were able to present evidence to the inspectors of the 
oversight they had of children and young people’s education over the past 
months.

2.31. Officers in the school improvement team have continued to support 
schools, both in their planning for, and response to, Covid.  The numbers 
of positive Covid cases in schools has recently increased, and 
headteachers are putting into action their risk assessments to keep their 
communities as safe as possible, as well as welcoming all children back to 
school.  Pupil attendance has been good across both primary and 
secondary phases (above the national average since the beginning of 
term), and schools have been putting in place their ‘recovery’ curricula, 
and preparing their contingency plans for remote learning to support pupils 
that need to self-isolate as a result of Covid.  Merton Education Partners 
have focused in particular on how schools are implementing these actions, 
which differ from ‘normal’ school activity.  In addition, they have been 
supporting schools to be ready for the planned resumption of regular 
Ofsted inspection from January 2021, and focusing on ‘normal’ school 
improvement priorities.  The Merton CPD programme continues for 
schools, with focuses on priorities associated with Covid (for example, 
developing the remote learning offer for pupils) and, again, more ‘normal’ 
priorities including leadership development.  Briefings were offered to all 
Merton schools about the Ofsted process for the visits they are making to 
schools this term, and what schools should expect.

Scrutiny Request (October 2020): The council’s activity to support schools in 
their response to the ‘Black Lives Matter’ movement

2.32. As was reported in the last Departmental Update, the ‘Black Lives Matter 
and Equalities Forum’ was established last term.  It comprises 
representatives from across Merton schools, and has now met twice.  The 
forum has scrutinised performance and outcome data for the different 
ethnic groups represented in Merton schools, and identified key themes to 
address from this data, and from an understanding of what research tells 

Page 10



us.  These themes are addressed in a new strategy to guide anti-racism 
work across schools in Merton.  This strategy is currently being consulted 
on with all schools.  Once finalised, the following will be offered to Merton 
schools:

 Training for senior leaders – including a session from ‘Equaliteach; a 
year-long programme from ‘Integrity Coaching’; and sessions on 
decolonising the curriculum from ‘The Black Curriculum’

 Governors’ training

 Workshops for teachers

 Conference for Merton secondary pupils

 Conference for Merton school staff

 Ambassador’s Programme (for secondary age young people)
2.33. Woven into the activity of the Forum, which will oversee the Strategy, will 

be listening to young people from black and minority ethnic communities in 
Merton.

Education Inclusion
2.34. The My Futures team has continued to support vulnerable young people 

and those who are not in education training or employment back into 
college and work post lockdown. College applications have gone well and 
employers are still supporting young people to access opportunities. They 
are working closely with Sutton LA and South Thames College to prevent 
young people from falling out of college. The team have been active on 
social media promoting people who have inspired them as part of Black 
History Month.

2.35. The Merton information and Advice Service has continued to support 
parents of children with special educational needs and receive positive 
feedback. Their workload has continued to increase as more children have 
gone back to school. They are planning outreach sessions to make sure 
that a diversity of parents are accessing the service. 

2.36. Merton's participation service has been recruiting young people for the 
children in care council and care experience forum. In addition, the current 
young inspectors are moving over to focus on public health work and we 
will be recruiting four more with two posts ring-fenced for care experienced 
young people.  

2.37. The Education Welfare Service continues to support core safeguarding 
and licencing functions and has been supporting schools with the return of 
children in the autumn term. Officers have been supporting schools to 
ensure children are back in school. There has been a delayed rise in 
children moving abroad or out of London which has meant a significant 
rise in children missing education referrals to be followed up. There has 
been a rapid rise in parents choosing Elective Home Education for their 
children since the summer. This is a trend that has been reported 
nationally. The rise is higher in primary aged children and includes a 

Page 11



significant group of formerly privately educated children. Schools have 
been supported with their new attendance requirements and processes. 

2.38. The Behaviour Support Service continued to support vulnerable children in 
schools. The team is running the DfE-supported training for return to 
school with advice and support on children’s mental health. The team is 
running training and supporting individual cases to help them manage in 
school. This is being undertaken with Covid risk assessment. 

2.39. The Language and Learning Service has moved back to providing in-
school Speech and Language therapy and learning assessments within a 
Covid Risk assessment. A significant number of dyslexia assessments are 
now being undertaken with the additional support in the team.

2.40. The Youth Service has reopened and delivers in bubbles of 15 children. 
Initially numbers were low but these have picked up strongly. However, the 
total numbers attending sessions will be lower than in previous years due 
to the limitation of group size. Duke of Edinburgh award has restarted and 
a total of 50 girls from Ricards Lodge and the Ursuline undertook their 
bronze activity walking some of the capital ring path and across 
Wimbledon Common, Richmond Park and through Kingston to Nonesuch. 
This was very successful and took significant support from parents and 
volunteers.

Early Years, Family Wellbeing and Early Help
Early Years Provision – Funded Places Scheme (scrutiny request)

2.41. During the pandemic, Merton continued to fund all providers who were 
expecting to deliver 2, 3 and 4-year-old funded places and the overall 
supply of places appeared to meet parental demand. Since September 
funded education providers continue to provide childcare and early 
learning to families and our provider support team have given significant 
guidance, advice and support to all early years and childcare settings. 
Provides have continued to receive funding in accordance with central 
government guidance, which has aimed to secure certainty for both the 
summer and autumn terms. 

2.42. In September, the service carried out a survey to establish the key 
presenting issues in light of Covid 19, across the childminding, private and 
voluntary sector with results showing that whilst settings are continuing to 
deliver services, they are concerned about long term sustainability and 
many are experiencing a drop in demand. Further monitoring into the new 
year will continue

2.43. Support for the early years’ sector has increased, with a high volume of 
enquiries and ongoing communications and distribution of important 
information. For the autumn term we have moved our training and 
meetings for managers online with high take up, particularly for our 
manager support group
Children’s Centres

2.44. We launched our online Baby Programme for families with babies aged 1 
month to 7 months, and our online Toddler programme. The take up for 

Page 12



the baby programme has been higher than expected, with further 
programmes scheduled to meet demand.  
Support for families with a child aged under 5 with SEND

2.45. No change since last report. 
Direct services childcare

2.46. No change since last report. 
Family Wellbeing Service

2.47. Staff across the service are now working directly with families face to face, 
as well as remotely. The Bond Road Centre, is open to families accessing 
the Family Time services (supervised contact) and will be open to staff to 
use as an office base in November, after a period of closure for 
refurbishment and improvements. 

2.48. Our new Early Help Co-ordinators have provided remote information and 
sign-posting about local services, and during October have moved to a 
new offer of direct work in some Children’s Centres supporting 
professionals and families in navigating early help pathways of support.
Early Help

2.49. Work continues to take place, with multi agency partners to produce our 
refreshed early help strategy and suite of support tools and best practice 
guidance. Community and family engagement activity will take place in the 
new year, with the aim or producing our new strategy and associated 
documents in March/ April 2021. 

Special Educational Needs Service and EHCPs (scrutiny request)
2.50. The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities integrated service has 

continued to see increased demand for statutory assessments. Currently, 
we have 2188 Education, Health and Care plans and are undertaking 
180 new Education, Health and Care Needs Assessments.

2.51. There has been a significant decrease in our success at meeting the 20-
week timescale during COVID. This has been for a number of reasons 
exacerbated by the pandemic including: late professional advice delaying 
planning meetings and in a small number of cases parents not engaging 
with planning meetings. 

2.52. On 1 May 2020 some aspects of the law on education, health and care 
(EHC) needs assessments and plans changed temporarily to give local 
authorities, health commissioning bodies, education settings and other 
bodies who contribute to these processes more flexibility in responding to 
the demands placed on them by coronavirus (COVID-19). The temporary 
changes to the law cease on 25th September 2020 and therefore we 
would hope to see an improvement in compliance with the statutory 
timescales. All cases since the 1st May and 25th September will have the 
Coronavirus exception applied and this is reported to the DfE.

2.53. The service re-organisation which was due to be completed in March 2020 
was delayed due to COVID however the recruitment has now taken place 

Page 13



and new staff are commencing in October 2020. This will add increased 
management capacity to better manage and increase the quality of the 
work undertaken by the SEN Team. There will be a particular focus on 
annual review processes.

2.54. The HoS and the CCG have been working with partner agencies to pilot 
templates for professional advice. This will streamline the way in which 
partner agencies provide their advice. CCG training has commenced for 
Health Professionals. In addition, the Council for Disabled Children and 
the LA have agreed the training program for children's social care and the 
dates will be confirmed in the coming weeks. The National Development 
Team for Inclusion has also set the dates that they will be delivering 
training to children and adults social care and the special educational 
needs teams on Transitions and Preparation for Adulthood.

2.55. The SEN case management system is being implemented and the team is 
working on data migration and implementation. The system is due to go 
live in January 2021 and the service is still on track to meet this deadline. 
Following the implementation of the SEN Case Management system 
phase 2 will be the development of the EHCP Portal which is an add on 
program to the Case Management system which will allow online co-
development of Education Health and Care Plans by SEN staff, parents, 
young people and professionals.
Contracts and School Organisation

2.56. School admissions and school meals:  In-year Admissions were at 
normal levels in September, which is always a very busy period. With 
lower numbers starting from March to July, there is a net loss of pupils 
during the Covid period.

2.57. The increase in children eligible for free school meals is a significant issue, 
and the team has ensured applications for eligibility are processed as 
quickly as possible. 275 additional children were assessed as eligible in 
September and through to the first half of October. We expect Autumn 
school census figures to confirm an overall significant increase in children 
in Merton schools eligible for free school meals since the start of the Covid 
period.

2.58. For children not attending school due to Covid/self-isolating we have 
agreed a general approach for schools to organise supermarket vouchers 
while publicising Merton’s COVID-19 Community Response Hub. The Hub 
works with local charities such as Dons Local Action Group for families 
that need support, such as help with shopping and basic supplies.

2.59. Harris Academy Wimbledon: Since last month’s update this project has 
met timescale and it is fully expected that children will start attending their 
permanent school in South Wimbledon during the week after the October 
half term.

2.60. Four Schools PFI Contract: Through September and October officers 
have continued to work with a specialist to hold the PFI contractor to 
account, and have held meetings with Directors of the PFI company to 
seek change to the benefit of the schools.

Page 14



2.61. SEND Home to School transport commissioning: This service has 
been extremely busy during September and October, with near normal 
travel levels again and appropriate procedures needing to be followed 
during this Covid period
SEND provision (scrutiny request) 

2.62. The increase in children with EHCPs requiring specialist provision has led 
to an expansion programme to offset some of the growth in independent 
school placements. The table below summarises progress to date on 
planned projects and those completed within the last year:

School and places Project Expected 
completion

Stanford Primary School  
ASD base  - 24 places

ASD unit to meet need through 
adaptation of existing premises. 

Completed 
early 2020

Cricket Green School Expansion by 56 places Completed 
spring 2020

Melrose School (SEMH) – 
expansion and change of 
age range to provide 
primary annex 

Primary provision opened in 
temporary provision in September 
2020. Report due to go to Cabinet to 
appoint contractor for permanent 
build, to complete in Autumn 2021  

Autumn 
2021

Secondary medical PRU - 
20 places

Provision moved temporarily to 
Worsfold House in September 2021. 
Officers at advanced stage to seek 
 approval for a permanent location for 
the expanded numbers 

2021/2022

ASD specialist school 
provision – 90 places 

Adaption of existing council building 
to expand existing school is planned. 
This has been delayed by Covid but 
we are currently looking at school 
provider options.

2022/23

Further Additional 
Resourced Provision in 
primary schools

Consultation planned with schools 
that have space for a further provision 2022/23

Performance, Policy and Partnerships
2.63. The Performance, Policy and Partnerships supported the directorate 

during the recent Ofsted assurance visit. A key component was the 
submission of timely and accurate data – the so-called ‘Annex A’ data. I 
am pleased to report that the performance team was able to do so within 
timescale. 

2.64. The preparatory work led by the Performance, Policy and Partnerships 
team meant that we were able to submit relevant strategies and other 
supporting documents in a timely fashion. 

Page 15



2.65. Having attracted corporate funding to address known issues with the case 
management system in Children’s Social Care, we are now developing a 
workplan to take forward the necessary repair work. Our immediate focus 
will be to ensure that data recording and reporting supports the submission 
of statutory returns in May and June 2021. 

2.66. A re-structure of the Performance, Policy and Partnerships team is nearing 
its conclusion. The re-structure was initiated to meet financial savings 
targets as well as increase our policy making capacity and capability. 

Joint Commissioning and Partnerships
2.67. No update since the last report. 

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1. No specific implications for this report. 
4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
4.1. None for this report. 
5 TIMETABLE
5.1. N/a for this report. 
6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
6.1. None
7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. None
8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS
8.1. None 
9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
9.1. None 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
10.1. None 
11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
12 BACKGROUND PAPERS
12.1. None 

Page 16



Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel
Date: 04 November 2020
Wards: All

Subject:  Performance Monitoring Report
Lead officer: Rachael Wardell, Director of Children, Schools and Families
Lead member: Councillor Eleanor Stringer, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
and Education
Contact officer: Karl Mittelstadt, Head of Performance, Policy and Partnerships

Recommendations: 
A. Members of the panel to discuss and comment on the contents of the report

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. This report summarises the performance information for 2020/21, up to 30 

September 2020, as set out in the accompanying document, the Children & 
Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Performance Index 2020/21.

1.2. This is the first performance report submitted for 20/21. It was not possible to 
provide a performance report to the last scrutiny meeting due to the impact 
of an ongoing Ofsted inspection. 

2 DETAILS
Exception Report

2.1. The following indicators are marked as amber or red. 
No Indicator Rating Service Commentary
2 % of Single Assessments 

authorised within the 
statutory 45 days 

A This aspect is covered in the 
departmental update. 

3 % of Education, Health and 
Care plans issued within 
statutory 20 week timescale 

R This aspect is covered in the 
departmental update report. 

16 Average number of weeks 
taken to complete Care 
proceedings against a 
national target of 26 weeks

R Data about court proceedings 
is provided by Cafcass. 
The duration of court 
proceedings is a matter for the 
court service. LBM has no 
influence over this process. 
Covid has had a significant 
impact on court proceedings 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



and timings. This is a national 
issue.

22 Number of in-house foster 
carers recruited 

R This aspect is covered in the 
departmental update report. 

Amendments, Corrections and Data Caveats
2.2. Current system configuration and data recording issues in our social care 

reporting system Mosaic have an impact on our ability to report performance 
against some of the indicators effectively. This does not mean that the 
department is unable to monitor performance. 

2.3. We are currently not able to report accurately against the following 
indicators:  

3 FOR DECISION
There are no items for decision.

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
4.1. No specific implications for this report
5 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
5.1. None for this report
6 TIMETABLE
6.1. Not applicable for this report
7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. None
8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
8.1. None
9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS
9.1. None
10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
10.1. None
11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1. None

Indicator 
Number

Descriptor Commentary  

8 % of quorate attendance at 
child protection 
conferences

Data reporting is currently 
unreliable. The way in which 
Mosaic is currently configured 
does not allow an easy analysis of 
quoracy. 

Page 18



12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
 Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Performance 

Index 2019/20
13 BACKGROUND PAPERS
13.1. None

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Merton 
2019/20

Merton 
2018/19

Merton 2017/18 England London Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Jun-21 / Q1 Jul-21

Assessments 

1
Number of Common and Shared Assessments 
undertaken (CASAs) 

Quarterly
Not a target 

measure 
68 

completed 
Change in 
recording

Change in 
recording

No benchmarking 
available

No benchmarking 
available

Not a target 
measure 

4 Completed
0

ongoing due to covid

0 Completed due to 
Covid 

16 
ongoing 

2
% of Single Assessments authorised within the 
statutory 45 days 

Monthly 91% 94% 84% 89%
83.1%

(DfE 2018/19)
83%

(DfE 2018/19)
Amber 98% 98% 99% 100% 100% 90%

3
% of Education, Health and Care plans issued within 
statutory 20 week timescale 

Monthly 55% 53% 52%

51.4%   (DfE: 
SEN2 Jan 2019 
for the 2018 

calendar year)

58%
(DfE: SEN2 Jan 

2019 for the 2018 
calendar year)

54.6%
(DfE: SEN2 Jan 

2019 for the 2018 
calendar year)

Red 50% 33% 34% 34% N/A N/A

Child protection

4 Child Protection Plans rate per 10,000 Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
19.5 38.9 41.7

43.7
(DfE 2018/19)

36.7(DfE 
2018/19)

Not a target 
measure 

18.8 21.6 23.9 26.7 28.4 28.1

5 Number of children subject of a Child Protection Plan Monthly Not a target 
measure 

92 184 196
No relevant 

benchmarking 
available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

Not a target 
measure 

89 102 113 126 134 133

8 % of quorate attendance at child protection 
conferences

Quarterly 95% N/A N/A N/A
No relevant 

benchmarking 
available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

Not a target 
measure 

N/A N/A

9 % of reviews completed within timescale for Children 
with Child Protection Plans 

Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
99% 90.4%  (DfE 

2018/19)
82% 91.8%

(DfE 2018/19)
95.7%

(DfE 2018/19)
Not a target 

measure 
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

10
% of Children subject of a CP Plan who had a CP visit 
within timescales in the month

Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
84% 77% n/a

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

Not a target 
measure 

96% 97% 88% 93% 95% 93%

11
% of Children that became the subject of a Child 
Protection Plan for the second or subsequent time 

Monthly
range 12-

20%
19%

17.2% (DfE 
2018/19)

13%
20.8%

(DfE 2018/19)
17.5%

(DfE 2018/19)
Green 20% 21% 18% 15% 16% 16%

Looked After Children

12 Looked After Children rate per 10,000 Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
32.6 33 33

65
(DfE 2018/19)

50
(DfE 2018/19)

Not a target 
measure 

31.9 33.4 33.4 32.4 34.5 32.8

13 Number of Looked After Children Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
154 157 155

78,150
(DfE 2018/19)

10,030
((DfE 2018/19)

Not a target 
measure 

151 158 158 153 163 155

14 Number of UASC children and young people Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
29 32 23 Not relevant Not relevant

Not a target 
measure 

27 28 27 29 33 29

16 Average number of weeks taken to complete Care 
proceedings against a national target of 26 weeks

Quarterly 26 weeks 37 33 31
31 (CAFCASS 

2018/19)

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available
Red (Q1) 41 N/A

17
% of Looked After Children cases which were 
reviewed within required timescales 

Monthly 96% 96% 88% 88% Not published Not published Green 97% 99% 99% 100% 95% 99%

18
% of Looked After Children participating in their 
reviews in month (year to date) (excludes children 
aged 0 - 4)

Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
90% 95% 99%

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

Not a target 
measure 

89% 91% 84% 84% 88%

19
Stability of placements of Looked After Children - 
number of moves (3 moves or more in the year)

Quarterly 11% 7.1%
8%    (DfE 
2018/19) 

12%     (DfE 
2018/19)                                                                     

10%
(DfE 2018/19)

11%
(DfE 2018/19)

Not a target 
measure 

8% 6%

20
Stability of placements of Looked After Children - 
length of placement (in care 2.5years, placement 2 
years)

Quarterly 65% 75%
73% (DfE 
2018/19)

69%
69%

(DfE 2018/19)
67%

(DfE 2018/19)
Not a target 

measure 
63% 68%

21
% of Looked After Children in foster placements who 
are placed with in-house foster carers

Quarterly 60% TBC
Change in 
recording

Change in 
recording

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available
Green 58% 60%

22 Number of in-house foster carers recruited Quarterly 20 12 13 11
No relevant 

benchmarking 
available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available
Red 4 4

No. Performance Indicators BRAG rating 
Target 

2020/21
Frequency

Please note that Year to date performance - unless otherwise stated indicates April - March

Benchmarking and trend Merton 2020/21 performance 

Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel - Performance Index 2020/21

P
age 21



Merton 
2019/20

Merton 
2018/19

Merton 2017/18 England London Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Jun-21 / Q1 Jul-21
No. Performance Indicators BRAG rating 

Target 
2020/21

Frequency
Benchmarking and trend Merton 2020/21 performance 

23 NEW  Number of Looked After Children who were 
adopted 

Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
6 (7%)

4  (6% of those 
leaving care 

2019, DfE data)
9  (11%)

3570  (12% of 
those ending 

care, DfE 2019)

300 (6% of those 
leaving care, DfE 

2019)

Not a target 
measure 

3 3 3 4 5 0

23a
NEW Number of Looked After Children for whom 
agency Special Guardianship Orders were granted 

Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
10  (11%)

9  (13% of those 
leaving care 

2019, DfE data)
0%

3840 (13% of 
those leaving 

care, DfE 2019)

480 (9% of those 
leaving care, DfE 

2019)

Not a target 
measure 

0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 22



Merton 
2019/20

Merton 
2018/19

Merton 2017/18 England London Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Jun-21 / Q1 Jul-21
No. Performance Indicators BRAG rating 

Target 
2020/21

Frequency
Benchmarking and trend Merton 2020/21 performance 

Childrens Centres and Schools

25
% of total 0-5 year estimated Census 2011  population 
from areas of deprivation (IDACI 30%) whose families 
have accessed children's centre services

Quarterly
Not a target 

measure 
TBC 56% 58%

89% 
(31/08/2017)

94%             
(31/08/2017)

Not a target 
measure 

10% 20%

26
% outcome of School Ofsted inspections good or 
outstanding (overall effectiveness)

Quarterly 91% 95%
95%  (A Y year-

end 
31/08/2019)

93%
86% 

(31/08/2019)
93%  

(31/08/2019)
N/A - C19 N/A - C19

27 Number of Primary* permanent exclusions  (Number 
YTD Academic year)

Monthly Not a target 
measure 

Academic 
year 

measure
<5 1

(DfE AY 2017/18)
1210   (DfE AY 

2017/18)
69   (DfE AY 

2017/18
Not a target 

measure 
N/A - C19 N/A - C19 N/A - C19 N/A - C19 N/A - C19 0

28
Number of Secondary* permanent exclusions 
(Number YTD Academic year)

Monthly
Not a target 

measure 

Academic 
year 

measure
21

8
(DfE AY 2017/18)

6612  (DfE AY 
2017/18)

960 (DfE AY 
2017/18)

Not a target 
measure 

N/A - C19 N/A - C19 N/A - C19 N/A - C19 N/A - C19 1

29 Secondary *** persistent absenteeism (10% or more 
sessions missed)

Annual Not a target 
measure 

Academic 
year 

measure

10.3%                              
(DfE AY 

2018/19)

10%
(DfE AY 2017/18)

13.7%                                
(DfE AY 2018/19)

12%                                  
(DfE AY 2018/19)

Not a target 
measure 

30 % of Reception year surplus places*** Annual Range               
5 - 10%

TBC
13.3% 

(AY2017/18)
7.7%

(AY 2016/17)

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available
N/A - C19

31 % of Secondary school (Year 7) surplus places *** Annual Range               
5 - 10%

TBC
11.7%    

(AY2017/18)
9.6%

(AY 2016/17)

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available
N/A - C19

Young People and Services 

32 Youth service participation rate Annual  1859 2395 1,967
No relevant 

benchmarking 
available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

Not a target 
measure 

33 % of CYP (16 - 17 year olds) not in education, 
employment or training (NEET) 

Monthly
Not a target 

measure 

Awaiting 
confirmed 

annual rate
1.6% 1.6%

2.6%  (DfE 
2018/19 based 

on Dec - Feb 
average)

1.7% (DfE 
2018/19 based 

on Dec - Feb 
average)

Not a target 
measure 

1.3% 1.3% 1.5% 1.5% 3.0% N/A

34 % of CYP (16 - 17 year olds) education, employment 
or training status ‘not known’ 

Monthly Not a target 
measure 

Awaiting 
confirmed 

annual rate

0.6% Q4   (0.8% 
DfE benchmark 

data)

0.9 Q4  (1% DfE 
benchmark data)

2.9%   (DfE 
2018/19 based 

on Dec - Feb 
average)           

3%  (DfE 2018/19 
based on Dec - 
Feb average)

Not a target 
measure 

1.2% 1.5% 5.0% 2.1% 3.3% N/A

35
Number of First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the Youth 
Justice System aged 10-17 

Monthly 50 38
33 (published 
rate per 10k: 

167)

54  (published 
rate per 10k: 291)

224 (rate per 
10,000, 2019)

260 (rate per 
10,000, 2019)

Green 2 9 11 14 15 19

36
Rate of proven re-offending by young people in the 
youth justice system 

Quarterly
Not a target 

measure 
TBC 0.68 0.7

1.55%                            
(2017/18                     

YJB pub 2020)

1.47%                     
(2017/18                

YJB pub 2020)

Not a target 
measure 

46% 46%

37
TF: Number of Families engaged for Expanded 
Programme

Quarterly
Not a target 

measure 
254 320 320

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available

Not a target 
measure 

75 75

38
% of commissioned services for which quarterly  
monitoring was completed 

Quarterly 100% 100% 100% 100%
No relevant 

benchmarking 
available

No relevant 
benchmarking 

available
Green 100% 100%

39** % agency social workers (HR data) Quarterly New TBC

18% Year-end 
HR  (18.9%,  DfE 

Sept 2018 
Census/ 38.1% 
DfE Sept 2019 

Census)

23.1%   Year-end 
(HR)  (25.7%  DfE 

Sept 2017 
census)

No direct 
comparable 
benchmark                    

(DfE Census Sept 
2019,   15.8%)                     

No direct 
comparable 

benchmark  (DfE 
Census Sept 

2019,  23.8%)

Not a target 
measure 

TBC TBC

40**

Average total caseload for social workers (working 
with looked after children and/or children subject of 
child protection plans) (total caseload including non 
LAC and CPP cases)                                                                                                                           
Combines and replaces previous indicators 7 and 15

Monthly New

16                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
(Year-End)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
14 (Annual 
average)

NEW                            
(DfE Census 
Sept 2018** 

17.7)

NEW

No direct 
comparable 
benchmark                

(DfE Census Sept 
2018, 17.4)

No direct 
comparable 
benchmark                     

(DfE Census Sept 
2018 15.8)

New 15 14 11 13 13 13

Indicators 39 & 40** Quarterly and monthly data reported from live date reported by Human Resource or Mosaic respectively. There is no direct comparable benchmarkable data as the DfE uses a different definition of a 'social worker' for the purpose of who is included in the annual Children's Social Workforce Census.
Indicators 29, 30 & 31: *** all pupils educated in Merton Schools (excluding special Schools)

Indicators 27 & 28 :* all pupils educated in Merton Schools (including special schools)

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People Work Programme 
2020/21

This table sets out the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel Work Programme for 2019/20 that was agreed by 
the Commission at its meeting on 24 June 2020.  

This slimmed down work programme has been designed so that it can be regularly reviewed and adjusted during the pandemic. 
It will be considered at every meeting of the Commission to enable it to respond to issues of concern or to request new pre-decision 
items ahead of their consideration by Cabinet/Council.

The work programme table shows items on a meeting by meeting basis, identifying the issue under review, the nature of the 
scrutiny (pre decision, policy development, issue specific, performance monitoring, partnership related) and the intended outcomes.

Chair: Councillor Brenda Fraser
Vice-chair: Cllr Hayley Ormrod

Scrutiny Support
For further information on the work programme of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel please contact: - 
Stella Akintan, Scrutiny Officer
Tel: 020 8545 3390; Email: stella.akintan@merton.gov.uk

For more information about overview and scrutiny at LB Merton, please visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 7



Meeting date: 30 September 2020 (Deadline for papers: 12pm, 22 September 2020)

Scrutiny category Item/issue How Lead member and/or 
lead officer

Intended outcomes

Standing items Covid 19 update Verbal update Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

To include info on 
school opening status 
and attendance, 
including attendance of 
key worker children and 
‘vulnerable’ children

Holding the executive 
to account

Harris Academy 
Wimbledon

Written Report Tom Procter, Head of 
Contracts and School 
Organisation

An update on progress 
with new school.

Holding the executive 
to account

Departmental update 
report

Written report Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

An overview of the key 
issues within the 
Children, Schools and 
Families Department.

Setting the work 
programme

Work programme 
2020/21

Written report Stella Akintan, Scrutiny 
Officer

To review the work 
programme and agree 
any changes

P
age 26



Meeting date: 4 November 2020 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 27 October 2020) 

Scrutiny category Item/issue How Lead member and/or 
lead officer

Intended outcomes

Holding the executive 
to account

Covid 19 update Verbal update Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

To include access to 
education for vulnerable 
children

Budget scrutiny Budget/business plan 
scrutiny (Round 1)

Written report Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services

To discuss and refer 
any comments to the 
O&S Commission

Holding the executive 
to account

Departmental update 
report

Annual report Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

An overview of the key 
issues within the 
Children, Schools and 
Families Department.

Performance 
management

Performance monitoring Basket of indicators Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

To highlight items of 
concern

Setting the work 
programme

Work programme 
2020/21

Written report Stella Akintan, Scrutiny 
Officer

To review the work 
programme and agree 
any changes

P
age 27



Meeting date: 15 January 2021 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 7 January 2021) 

Scrutiny category Item/issue How Lead member and/or 
lead officer

Intended outcomes

Standing items Covid 19 update Verbal update Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

To include Children’s 
Social Care

Budget scrutiny Budget/business plan 
scrutiny (Round 2)

Written report Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services

To discuss and make 
recommendations to 
forward to Cabinet

Holding the executive 
to account

Corporate Parenting Annual report Assistant Director 
Children’s' Social Care 
and Youth Inclusion

To provide comments 
on annual report

Holding the executive 
to account

Departmental update 
report

Annual report Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

An overview of the key 
issues within the 
Children, Schools and 
Families Department.

Performance 
management

Performance monitoring Basket of indicators Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

To highlight items of 
concern

Setting the work 
programme

Work programme 
2020/21

Written report Stella Akintan, Scrutiny 
Officer

To review the work 
programme and agree 
any changes

P
age 28



Meeting date: 10 February 2021 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 2 February 2021)

Scrutiny category Item/issue How Lead member and/or 
lead officer

Intended outcomes

Holding the executive 
to account

Teacher Recruitment 
and Retention

Written report

Health scrutiny Merton Safeguarding 
Children Board

Written report

Holding the executive 
to account

Departmental update 
report

Annual report Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

An overview of the key 
issues within the 
Children, Schools and 
Families Department.

Performance 
management

Performance monitoring Basket of indicators Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

To highlight items of 
concern

Setting the work 
programme

Work programme 
2020/21

Written report Stella Akintan, Scrutiny 
Officer

To review the work 
programme and agree 
any changes

P
age 29



Meeting date: 27 April 2021 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 19 April 2021)

Scrutiny category Item/issue How Lead member and/or 
lead officer

Intended outcomes

Scrutiny Review Community Hubs / 
Youth Centres 

Written report 

Holding the executive 
to account

Schools Standards 
Annual Report

Written report Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

To scrutinise attainment 
information

Holding the executive 
to account

Departmental update 
report

Annual report Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

An overview of the key 
issues within the 
Children, Schools and 
Families Department.

Performance 
management

Performance monitoring Basket of indicators Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

To highlight items of 
concern

Setting the work 
programme

Topic suggestions for 
2021/22

Written report Stella Akintan, Scrutiny 
Officer

To identify topics for the 
2021/22 work 
programme

P
age 30



P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Department Update Report
	6 Performance Monitoring Report
	November Scrutiny Performance Dash - Final

	7 Work Programme 2020-21

